IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, LOCAL GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD,

Appellant,

VS.

EDUCATION SUPPORT EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION; INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS LOCAL 14; and CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Oct 19 2016 02:58 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
SUPREME COURTCLEAS & Supreme Court
NO. 70586

District Court Case No. A-15-715577-J

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Nevada Attorney General
GREGORY L. ZUNINO (Bar No. 4805)
Bureau Chief
DONALD J. BORDELOVE (Bar No. 12561)
Deputy Attorney General
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
555 E. Washington Ave. #3900
Las Vegas, NV 89101

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 233B.150. On May 17, 2016, the District Court entered a final Order Granting Education Support Employees Association's ("ESEA") Petition for Judicial Review. (Joint Appendix ("JA"), Vol. II, at 464-69). The Board filed a timely Notice of Appeal on June 9, 2016. (JA, Vol. II, at 470-71).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(3) as it regards election questions. This matter is also presumptively retained by Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(14) as it involves a question of statewide importance. NRS 288.160 and NAC 288.110 authorize the Board to conduct elections for the purpose of determining which employee organization, if any, will be considered the exclusive bargaining agent for public employees within bargaining units. This case has statewide public policy implications because it addresses the scope of the Board's authority to implement a standard for evaluating results of elections between competing public sector labor unions.

ESEA argues that the Board must evaluate the results of an election in reference to the number of potential voters as opposed to the total number of votes cast in the election. As the facts of this case demonstrate, ESEA argues for a standard that makes it virtually impossible for the employees within the bargaining unit to displace ESEA as their collective bargaining agent. Since the standard would be uniform in its application, this case has significant implications for public employees across the state.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does substantial evidence, namely the history and results of the several elections at issue in this case, support the Board's determination that International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Local 14 ("Local 14") is supported by a majority of the bargaining unit employees?
- 2. Was it clearly erroneous or an arbitrary abuse of discretion for the Board to conduct a final election by which the winner was declared, as is customary in virtually all elections, in reference to the majority of votes cast?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a roughly 14-year struggle between ESEA and Local 14 for control of a bargaining unit consisting of Clark County School District ("CCSD") employees.

In 2002, the EMRB concluded, following an evidentiary hearing, that a good faith doubt existed whether ESEA or Local 14 was supported by a majority of support staff employees of the CCSD. (JA, Vol. I, at 3-11). Based on that conclusion, the EMRB ordered an election pursuant to NRS 288.160(4). *Id*.

On January 20, 2016, following three elections, the Board declared that Local 14 "shall be the exclusive bargaining representative of the employees in the bargaining unit." (JA, Vol. I, at 191). On May 17, 2016, the District Court granted ESEA's Petition for Judicial Review and vacated the Board's 2016 Order. (JA, Vol. II, at 467-69).

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Based on the Board's 2002 conclusion that a good faith doubt existed as to which representative was supported by a majority of support staff employees of the CCSD, the Board ordered an election pursuant to NRS 288.160(4) to determine whether either employee organization, ESEA or Local 14, was supported by a majority of said bargaining unit. (JA, Vol. I, at 3-11). ESEA challenged the election on multiple grounds, all of which this Court rejected, explaining that "[s]ubstantial evidence supports the Board's decision that a good faith doubt existed and an election was justified." (JA, Vol. I, at 45).

Since its inception in 1969, the Board has implemented its statutes and regulations according to the premise that if a union received the majority of votes

cast in an election, the election demonstrated that the union had majority support. (JA, Vol. I, at 167). In 2003, the Board experimented with a novel and uncodified interpretation of NRS 288.160(4) and NAC 288.110(10)(d). Under this new rule, ESEA or Local 14 had to win votes from a majority of all potential voters regardless of voter participation (the "Supermajority Rule"). On review, the Supreme Court deferred to the Board's interpretation. (JA, Vol. I, at 47-48). All of this occurred before the initial election was held.

The Board held three rounds of voting in which employees were asked to choose between Local 14 and ESEA. Each time, Local 14 received more votes than ESEA. (JA, Vol. I, at 50, 162, 181-82). The initial election was held in 2006. There were 10,386 employees in the bargaining unit. Local 14 received 2,711 votes; ESEA received 1,932 votes; and "No Union" received 93 votes. (JA, Vol. I, at 50). As such, Local 14 won 57 percent of votes cast. After the initial election, the Board acknowledged that doubt remained about whether either union enjoyed majority support, but decided that it would not take any further steps because a runoff election under the same vote-counting rule would have the same inconclusive result. (JA, Vol. I, at 51-54). The District Court ordered the Board to hold a runoff election pursuant to NAC 288.110(7). (JA, Vol. I, at 62-63). The Supreme Court affirmed that ruling. (JA, Vol. I, at 82-83). As the EMRB had not revised its interpretation of the governing statute and regulation, the Court held that the same majority of all voters rule applied to a mandatory runoff election. (JA, Vol. I, at 82).

A runoff election was held in early 2015, and Local 14 won by a wider margin than in the initial election. Local 14 received 3,692 votes, while ESEA received 1,498 votes. (JA, Vol. I, at 162). Votes for Local 14 represented 71 percent of the ballots cast.

Following the runoff election, the Board concluded that its experimental interpretation of NRS 288.160(4) and NAC 288.110(10)(d) was unworkable: "The history of this case shows that the 'majority of the unit' standard is a failed experiment incapable of any meaningful practical application." (JA, Vol. I, at 168). The Board decided that it would revert to its original standard, hold a final round of voting, and determine the outcome based on a majority of votes cast. (JA, Vol. I, at 163-169).

The final election was held in late 2015, and Local 14 won even more votes. (JA, Vol. I, at 181-84). Local 14 received 4,349 votes, while ESEA received only 970 votes. *Id.* At the time of this election, the bargaining unit consisted of 11,578 employees. *Id.* Local 14 won 81 percent of the ballots cast.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 2003, the Board announced its adoption of the Supermajority Rule. In 2015, the Board expressly overruled its prior decision based on the substantial

evidence before it, prevailing labor law and election standards, and proper statutory interpretation. In doing so, the Board fulfilled its statutory duty and policy of promoting labor peace and stability. The Board also brought its elections back in line with prevailing labor law standards as well as those governing Nevada elections generally. The Board's interpretation of its own statute as codified in its regulation was not an arbitrary abuse of discretion and is consistent with and justifiable in light of the extensive history of elections in this case. With a single exception, the Board from its inception has used the majority of the votes cast standard with success. Having abruptly announced the application of the Supermajority Rule in 2003, a decision based on no discernible objective evidence and merely a cursory glance at the applicable regulation, the Board deviated from a long-standing practice of counting votes rather than potential voters.

The Board administers and enforces the provisions of the Local Government Employee-Management Relations Act ("EMRA"), codified at NRS 288.010 to NRS 288.280, inclusive. The Legislature specifically granted the Board authority to address and resolve labor disputes, including the authority "to make rules governing ... [t]he recognition of employee organizations." NRS 288.110(1)(c). The EMRB conducts elections for this purpose and has, pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act, formally codified the majority of the votes cast standard in its regulation, NAC 288.110(10). Indeed, the authority of the EMRB to

enact implementing regulations consistent with the EMRA is well established. The Board has now applied the plain language of its regulation requiring that the outcome of elections be evaluated according to whether they "demonstrate" majority support for an employee organization.

A central issue before this Court is whether the prior unpublished Nevada Supreme Court decisions in this case bind this appeal. Far from binding this appeal in favor of ESEA, the prior decisions of the Court actually support the Board's 2016 Order. The prior decisions were limited to a review of the Board's interpretive discretion and afforded deference to the Board despite its departure from a well-established reading of the governing statute and regulation. Furthermore, the parties failed to present to the Court the substantial evidence necessary to assist in its review – evidence which is now of record. Moreover, the prior decisions of the Court signal the Court's application of a deferential standard of review as to the Board's interpretation of the governing statute. Unfortunately, that interpretation prevailed despite the existence of an implementing regulation that is plain on its face and directly applicable to the facts of the case.

Finally, the election results revealed that NRS 288.160(4) may be rendered meaningless if not construed in light of a common sense election standard. No portion of the statute should be rendered meaningless nor should it be interpreted to produce an absurd or unreasonable result. The Board has a statutory duty to

carry out representation elections and thereby determine majority support for a representation option. NRS 288.160(4) gives the Board only one way of resolving good faith doubts in this regard: hold a secret ballot election. If NRS 288.160(4) is enforced as the Board construed it in 2003, the resulting election standard may produce unreasonable if not absurd results. Depending upon the circumstances of any given representation dispute, the Supermajority Rule may effectively trigger a forfeiture of the rights of employees to displace an entrenched and unpopular labor union. This is because it poses an insurmountable hurdle to change when even a small minority of the employees is disinclined to vote for one reason or another.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that it "... gives considerable deference to rulings by the Employee Management Relations Board." *Bisch v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't.*,129 Nev. Adv. Op. 36, 302 P.3d 1108, 1112 (2013). This same level of deference applies in this case. "The function of this court in reviewing an administrative decision is identical to the district court's." *Riverboat Hotel Casino v. Harold's Club*, 113 Nev. 1025, 1029, 944 P.2d 819, 822 (1997). The Supreme Court of Nevada reviews questions of fact to determine whether the agency's decision was clearly erroneous or an arbitrary abuse of discretion. NRS 233B.135(3)(e)-(f); *Local Gov't Employee-Mgmt. Relations Bd. v. Gen. Sales*

Drivers, Delivery and Helpers, Teamsters Local Union No. 14 of Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen & Helpers of Am., 98 Nev. 94, 98, 641 P.2d 478, 480-81 (1982); Wynn Las Vegas v. Baldonado, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 78, 311 P.3d 1179, 1181 (2013).

Accordingly, an agency's conclusions of law, which are closely related to the agency's view of the facts, are entitled to deference and will not be disturbed if supported by substantial evidence. *Schepcoff v. State Indus. Ins. Sys.*, 109 Nev. 322, 325, 849 P.2d 271, 273 (1993); *see also Elliot v. Resnick*, 114 Nev. 25, 32, n.1, 952 P.2d 961, 966 n.1 (1998) (stating that an agency's interpretation of a statute, which it has the duty to administer, is entitled to deference); *Fathers & Sons & A Daughter Too v. Transp. Services Auth. of Nevada*, 124 Nev. 254, 262, 182 P.3d 100, 106 (2008); *State v. Tatalovich*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 61, 309 P.3d 43, 44 (2013); *see also State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Bokelman*, 113 Nev. 1116, 1119, 946 P.2d 179, 181 (1997). Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support the agency's conclusions. *Sec'y of State v. Tretiak*, 117 Nev. 299, 305, 22 P.3d 1134, 1138 (2001).

Therefore, the Court's review is limited to determining whether there was "substantial evidence in the record to support the agency determination." *State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Christensen*, 106 Nev. 85, 88, 787 P.2d 408, 409 (1990); *see State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d

482, 485 (2000). While courts may review purely legal questions, such as questions of statutory interpretation, the Court should still give due consideration to an agency's legal conclusions when they are closely related to factual issues, particularly when the agency has specialized knowledge or expertise in a given field. *See Int'l Game Tech. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of Nevada*, 122 Nev. 132, 157, 127 P.3d 1088, 1106 (2006). It follows that "[a]n agency charged with the duty of administering an act is impliedly clothed with power to construe it as a necessary precedent to administrative action." *Clark County Sch. Dist. v. Local Govt. Employee-Mgmt. Rel. Bd.*, 90 Nev. 442, 446, 530 P.2d 114, 117 (1974).

- B. The Court Should Defer to the Board's Interpretation of its
 Statute as Codified in Regulation.
 - The Board expressly overruled its prior decision in light of a complete factual record.

In 2015, based on the substantial evidence before it, the Board expressly overruled its prior experimental interpretation of its own regulation. (JA, Vol. I, at 168). This carefully reasoned opinion also included a detailed analysis of the Board's election standard since its inception in 1969, prevailing labor law standards, and proper statutory interpretation. (JA, Vol. I, at 165-68).

The Board rejected that NRS 288.160(4) requires it to engage in the futile act of holding successive runoff elections under the same unworkable standard for

assessing majority support. (JA, Vol. I, at 164-66). Neither union challenged this conclusion before the District Court. The Board then identified two options for bringing the matter to a conclusion: "[E]ither the Board concedes that its good faith doubt can never be resolved and closes this case, leaving the doubt forever unanswered; or else the Board excises the cause of futility in this case and proceeds under something different than the 'majority of the unit' standard." (JA, Vol. I, at 166).

To choose between these options, the Board turned to the mandate given it by the Legislature. The first option – abandoning the election process – was "not a viable option" as it would amount to an abdication of the Board's statutory duty:

This Board was created and charged by the legislature with the duty to carry out representation elections and to determine majority support. To walk away from that process at this point after more than a decade of proceedings and two elections without any answer to our good faith doubt would be an affront to our statutory charge under NRS 288.160 and the underlying purposes of the Act.

Id. In rejecting the first option, the Board considered how best to fulfill the statutory policy of promoting labor peace and stability:

The concept of stability in labor relations, which is a fundamental objective of the Act, cannot be reconciled with an open-ended process of this sort. Existing doubt as to majority support is not conducive to stability in labor relations The employees and employers subject to the Act should not be left under a perpetual cloud of unresolved questions about which organization will actually represent a bargaining unit. The legislature has decreed that they deserve better when it adopted a mechanism for questions of majority support to be definitively resolved by this Board.

(JA, Vol. I, at 165). The Board chose the second option as a means to fulfill the Board's statutory duty. (JA, Vol. I, at 165-68). The Board executed that duty by reverting to its prior interpretation of NRS 288.160(4) as codified in NAC 288.110(10)(d).¹

The Board explained that the Supermajority Rule failed twice to resolve its good faith doubt as to majority support in the subject bargaining unit and would not likely produce a satisfactory outcome at any point in the future. (JA, Vol. I, at 165-66). The Board found "that the ability to hold an election under a standard that will actually produce a meaningful result is essential to carry out our statutory duty to hold election and to resolve our good faith doubts." (JA, Vol. I, at 166).

change." Robertson v. Methow Valley Citizens Council, 490 U.S. 332, 356 (1989).

¹ "An administrative agency is not disqualified from changing its mind; and when it does, the courts still sit in review of the administrative decision and should not approach the statutory construction issue de novo and without regard to the administrative understanding of the statutes." NLRB v. Local 103, Int'l Assn. of Iron Workers, 434 U.S. 335, 351 (1978); see also NLRB v. Curtin Matheson Scientific, Inc., 494 U.S. 775, 787 (1990) ("[A] Board rule is entitled to deference even if it represents a departure from the Board's prior policy."); NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 265-66 (1975) ("The use by an administrative agency of the evolutional approach is particularly fitting. To hold that the Board's earlier decisions froze the development of this important aspect of the national labor law would misconceive the nature of administrative decision-making. 'Cumulative experience' begets understanding and insight by which judgments . . . are validated or qualified or invalidated. The constant process of trial and error, on a wider and fuller scale than a single adversary litigation permits, differentiates perhaps more than anything else the administrative from the judicial process.""). All that is necessary is that the agency supply a "well-considered basis for the

The Board expressly adopted prevailing labor law standards and Nevada election standards:

We now interpret this subsection as permitting the Board to infer majority support of the unit as whole based upon a majority of votes cast in accord with the well-recognized principle 'that those not participating in the election must be presumed to assent to the expressed will of the majority of those voting, so that such majority determines the choice.' N.L.R.B v. Deutsch Co., 265 F.2d 473, 479 (9th Cir. 1959). Following the 'majority of votes cast standard will not only bring the Board in line with the prevailing standard in labor law, as stated in Deutsch Co., it will also bring the Board in line with Nevada's prevailing standard for elections in general, which bases election results on the number of votes cast. See Nev. Const. Art. 5 § 4.

(JA, Vol. I, at 167-68). Based on the substantial evidence before it, the prevailing standards in labor law as well as elections in general, and proper statutory interpretation, the Board correctly applied NRS 288.160(4) and NAC 288.110(10)(d) and concluded that the results of the 2015 election demonstrated majority support for Local 14. (JA, Vol. I, at 163-69).

This is in stark contrast to the Board's adoption of the Supermajority Rule in 2003, a decision made without objective evidence or any need for a change to the existing election standard as plainly set forth in NAC 288.110(10)(d). *See* (JA, Vol. I, at 13-14). Moreover, the Board misapplied the regulation in order to justify the change:

Lastly, although the Legislature does not appear to have specifically addressed whether the majority is of 'votes cast' or 'of members of

the bargaining unit' in NRS 288.160(4), NAC 288.160(9)(d)² does provide clear interpretation that a majority of the employees within the particular 'bargaining unit' is required. Consequently, the Board will require the votes of a 50% plus one of the employees in the bargaining unit to be obtained by an organization before it will be certified as representing the unit.

Id. As is evident in the above passage, the Board considered no evidence whatsoever, basing its decision on a cursory and incomplete reading of its own regulation. In fact, the Board ignored the standards that it had used to conduct elections since its inception; the Board did not consider prevailing labor law and election standards; and the Board did not even quote or address the full text of the regulation (i.e. "[t]he election **demonstrates** that the employee organization is supported by a majority of the employees within a particular bargaining unit"). See id; NAC 288.110(10)(d) (emphasis added).

2. <u>It is the Board's function to fill gaps in the statutes it</u> administers.

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