IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF LEVAL Filed

Jul 24 2017 08:26 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

THE STATE OF NEVADA, LOCAL GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD,

Supreme Court 100 Supreme Court

District Court Case No. A-15-715577-J

Appellant,

VS.

EDUCATION SUPPORT EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS, LOCAL 14 and CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondents.	
	_/

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT EDUCATION SUPPORT EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION

FRANCIS C. FLAHERTY
Nevada Bar No. 5303
SUE S. MATUSKA
Nevada Bar No. 6051
DYER, LAWRENCE, FLAHERTY
DONALDSON & PRUNTY
2805 Mountain Street
Carson City, Nevada 89703
Telephone: (775) 885-1896
Attorneys for Education Support

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

The Board's assertion that the "legislative silence since 2003 is not indicative of a policy preference for one standard over another," AOB at 21, is completely unsupported by any legal authority, and, as shown in the previous footnote, is incorrect. The Legislature has not been silent; it has "spoken" by rejecting at least two bills that could have adopted or authorized the interpretation the Board now desires.

I JA 82 (emphasis added). It also "conclude[d] that NRS 288.160(4)'s and NAC 288.110(10)(d)'s majority-vote requirement is equally applicable to the runoff election." I JA 83. The Supreme Court came to this conclusion despite expressly acknowledging "that a runoff election *may produce similar inconclusive results.*" I JA 83 (emphasis added). By acknowledging this possibility of an inconclusive result, the Supreme Court foreclosed the interpretation which the Board boldly, arbitrarily and capriciously made and executed in its 2016 Board Order—that the Board somehow has a "duty" to apply a different standard that would produce a "definitive answer to the question of [its] good faith doubt." I JA 168 (2015 Board Order which is adopted by reference in the 2016 Board Order).

Thus, when it comes to determining the results when a rival organization has challenged the incumbent employee organization and a representation election occurs (and certainly to determine the results of this dispute), the Board's express statutory duty, as interpreted twice by the Nevada Supreme Court, is to require "support from a majority of all of the members of the bargaining unit and not just a majority of those who vote" even if it produces an "inconclusive result."

C. The Supreme Court 2005 and 2009 Orders are the Law of the Case.

To issue the 2005 and 2009 orders described above, the Supreme Court ruled upon and interpreted the very statute and regulation pursuant to which the Board had

acted. The Supreme Court made the essential and necessary holding on the correct interpretation of NRS 288.160(4) and NAC 288.110(10)(d). As such, these orders are the "law of the case" on this issue for this appeal. The law of the case doctrine provides that:

[w]hen an appellate court states a principle or rule of law necessary to a decision, the principle or rule becomes the law of the case and must be followed throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal.

Hsu v. County of Clark, 123 Nev. 625, 629-30,173 P.3d 724, 728 (2007) (emphasis added). The law of the case doctrine "is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration, during the course of a single continuous lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest." Id. (quoting U.S. v. Real Property Located at Incline Village, 976 F. Supp. 1327 (D. Nev. 1997)).

1. This Appeal is part of the Continuous Lawsuit and is Controlled by the Earlier Orders of the Nevada Supreme Court.

Although it has been more than a decade since the Supreme Court's 2005 Order of Affirmance, this case between the Board, ESEA and Local 14, is still progressing, and the law of the case must be followed. The 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance plainly stated the appropriate standard for determining the results of a representation election, and, therefore, were "intended to put [the] particular matter to rest." The Board, therefore, had no authority to simply deem such orders to have

been inappropriate, inaccurate or entered "in deference" to the Board and, therefore, proceed in a different direction. The law of the case doctrine bound the Board and the district court and there is no reason to depart from the law of the case now.

2. No Exceptions to the Law of the Case Doctrine Apply.

Although, in the *Hsu* case, the Supreme Court adopted *an* exception to the law of the case doctrine for the situation where there has been a "change in the law by . . . a judicial ruling entitled to deference," *id.* at 632, 173 P.3d at 730, that has not occurred here. The *Hsu* court defined a "judicial ruling entitled to deference" to be a decision by the highest court in the state. *Id.* Here, the highest court in the state has *not* substantively changed the law. In fact, between 2005 and 2009, the highest court in the state held firm and stated that the law had not changed. Moreover, since 2009, Legislature has not substantively changed the law.

Contrary to the Board's assertion, the *Hsu* court did not, additionally, "explain that it had previously recognized and applied the 'manifest injustice' exception" to the law of the case doctrine. *See* AOB at 30-31. The *Hsu* court stated that it had "implicitly acknowledged the possibility of exceptions to the law of the case" when prior holdings were "clearly erroneous" *and* "would work a manifest injustice" or a "fundamental miscarriage of justice." *Hsu*, 123 Nev. at 631, 173 P.3d at 729 (*citing Clem v. State*, 119 Nev. 615, 620, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003); *Leslie v. Warden*, 118

Nev. 773, 780, 59 P.3d 440, 445 (2002)). However, it did not retroactively determine that such exceptions had been applied in those cases. Indeed, in Clem, the Supreme Court found that the appellant's claims were "precluded by the law of the case" so, clearly, no exception was adopted or applied. 119 Nev. at 620, 81 P.3d at 525. In Leslie, the "law of the case doctrine" was not even mentioned, much less addressed. Under the high stakes circumstance of determining whether a death sentence had been appropriate, the Supreme Court reconsidered the propriety of the application of one of the aggravators which had lead to the death sentence. The Supreme Court did so because it "conclude[d] that [its] refusal to consider the issue would result in a fundamental miscarriage of justice," stating that a "fundamental miscarriage of justice can be demonstrated by a showing that the defendant 'is actually innocent of the crime or is ineligible for the death penalty." 118 Nev. at 780, 59 P.3d at 445. Again, the term "law of the case" was not even used in Leslie.

Even if the *Hsu* court had actually adopted the manifest injustice exception, the facts of this case do not warrant its application. First and foremost, to apply such exception, the initial determination would have to be that the prior holding was "clearly erroneous." *Hsu*, 122 Nev. at 631, 173 P.3d at 729. The 2005 and 2009 Supreme Court orders are not erroneous, let alone clearly erroneous. In fact, the Board really does not argue that they are at all erroneous. It only argues (erroneously)

that they were based on deference to the Board's interpretation of the relevant statute and regulation. AOB 16-19. Second, in Leslie, the Court defined "fundamental miscarriage of justice" as "a showing that the defendant 'is actually innocent of the crime or is ineligible for the death penalty." 118 Nev. at 780, 59 P.3d at 445. Absent such an extreme potential outcome, courts have declined to find a potential manifest injustice that would warrant a departure from the law of the case doctrine. See Vanleeuwen v. Keyuan Petrochemicals, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 72683 (C.D. Cal., May 9, 2013) (no manifest injustice where court adhered to law of the case on the ruling on an earlier motion to dismiss (by a different defendant) which allowed action to go forward dealing with millions in potential damages based on failed disclosures to the SEC); United States v. Alexander, 106 F.3d 874 (9th Cir. 1997) (no manifest injustice would have resulted from adhering to law of the case that defendant's confession was suppressed even though conviction of defendant would be reversed).

Here, no person's life is at stake. The result that a state agency will be required to follow the plain statutory language that it is charged with enforcing and with orders of the Supreme Court to which it is subject is not an injustice of any magnitude, much less a manifest injustice. The result that the Board will have to seek "relief" from the Legislature, as this Court told it to do back in 2005, if it desires to use a mere

majority-of-the-votes-case-standard is not an injustice, much less a manifest injustice. The fact that some support staff employees of the Clark County School District may not get the employee organization that they desire at this time is also not an injustice because there will always, inevitably be some employees who are unhappy with their union, but pursuant to NRS 288.140(1) such employees can be "heard" by choosing not to be a member. Regarding the employees, it bears pointing out that the Board does not represent the employees. The only role it plays here is to appropriately exercise its authority pursuant to NRS 288.160(4). The Supreme Court, in December of 2005, told the Board that its role is to apply the outright majority standard "regardless of result" and that the Supreme Court would defer to the Legislature to change that standard. It is absurd to claim that even though more than ten years have passed since the 2005 Order of Affirmance, with only one bill (AB 337 (2007)) subsequently being introduced in the Legislature to change that standard, the Board would somehow now experience a manifest injustice if it is not able to depart from that standard.¹⁴ It is plain to be seen that no injustice, much less a manifest injustice, would have occurred by the simple adherence to the law of the case in the dispute

¹⁴ Cf. Harris v. State, 130 Nev. ___, 329 P.3d 619, 622 (130 Nev. Adv. Op. 47 June 12, 2014) (declaring consideration of equitable doctrine of laches as necessary in determining whether a defendant has shown "manifest injustice" that would permit withdrawal of a plea after sentencing).

between these parties. NRS 288.160(4) and NAC 288.110(10)(d) have a plain meaning that the Board must follow "regardless of result."

There also is not new or different evidence that warrants departing from the prior 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance. The Board makes much of the fact that a third election has been held and that Local 14 received more votes than ESEA and more votes than it received in the prior elections. However, this is really the same factual scenario, i.e., two competing employee organizations were on the ballot in a representation election and neither received an outright majority, and in none of the three elections in this case has a majority of the employees in the bargaining unit ever even voted. I JA 50, 82, 164, 181, 183-84. The Board argues that the Legislature must have meant for it to be able to resolve such a situation despite these results. This is really the same argument made by Local 14 in the appeal that resulted in the 2005 Order of Affirmance. 15 Thus, these are substantially the same facts and the same arguments, and they do not warrant a departure from the law of the case doctrine. See Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975) ("The doctrine of the law

¹⁵ Notably, at that time, the Board argued against Local 14's position on the need to change the election standard. I JA 37-49. The fact that the Board was a respondent in that appeal is not material to the applicability of the law of the case doctrine. *See Vanleeuwen v. Keyuan Petrochemicals, Inc.*, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 72683 (C.D. Cal., May 9, 2013) (the fact that the law of the case doctrine is used "against" a different party than in the previous decision does not necessarily mean a manifest injustice is involved).

of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings.").

3. The Unpublished Nature of the 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance Does not Affect their Precedential Value as the Law of the Case.

Finally, it is of no consequence to the law of the case doctrine, that the 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance were not published. NRAP 36 provides that an unpublished order does not establish mandatory precedent *except in* "a subsequent stage of a case in which the unpublished disposition was entered, in a related case, or in any case for purposes of issue or claim preclusion or to establish law of the case." NRAP 36, as amended by ADKT 0504 (repealing and replacing former SCR 123). These unpublished orders involve the exact same parties as those parties named in this appeal, were entered in an earlier stage of the same case and establish the law of the case.

4. The Elements that Warrant a Deviation from Stare Decisis are Not Present.

The doctrine of *stare decisis* is not applicable here because the parties are the same today as they were when the 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance were issued. The doctrine of law of the case, which is an "intra-litigation *stare decisis*," *see Carlyle Inv. Mgmt. L.L.C. v. Moonmouth Co. S.A.*, 2015 Del. Ch. LEXIS 237 at 20-21 (Ct. of Chancery, September 10, 2015), is the applicable doctrine.

Nevertheless, application of the cases that the Board cites as justifying a departure from the doctrine of stare decisis, does not result in a compelling reason to do so. To justify a departure from the doctrine of stare decisis, the cited cases speak of "governing decisions" that "prove to be unworkable or are badly reasoned." Armenta-Carpio v. State, 129 Nev. ___, 306 P.3d 395, 398 (129 Nev. Adv. Op. 54 July 25, 2013); Harris v. State, 130 Nev. ___, 329 P.3d 619, 623 (130 Nev. Adv. Op. 47 June 12, 2014). The Supreme Court has elaborated on this principle utilizing standards such as: where the earlier decision "went beyond answering the limited question," "was clearly erroneous," or "was not based on strong public policy," Armenta-Carpio, 129 Nev. at , 306 P.3d at 398; State v. Lloyd, 129 Nev. , 312 P.3d 467, 474 (129 Nev. Adv. Op. 79 October 31, 2013). These standards do not apply to this case. The issue of the interpretation of NRS 288.160(4) was squarely before the Supreme Court for the appeals that resulted in the 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance, and there is absolutely no basis for declaring them to have been "clearly erroneous" as they were based on a strict, plain reading of the language enacted by the Legislature. Finally, despite the Board's more recent view (which is diametrically opposed to its view up until 2015) about what will serve the public policy behind NRS chapter 288, it is clear that the Supreme Court considered "strong public policy" when it rendered its 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance. It rendered reasoned decisions that examined NRS 288.160 as a whole. It considered the fact that the Legislature enacted plain and unambiguous language that made its intent clear. I JA 47. It considered the role of an administrative agency in the face of unambiguous statutory language and concluded that in such a situation the administrative agency must "follow the law regardless of result." *Id.* In fact, in one of the cases cited by the Board for deviation from the doctrine of *stare decisis*, the Supreme Court actually determined that the Court should deviate so that it could reverse what had been an expansive view of language that was and should have been declared to have been plain. *ASAP Storage, Inc. v. City of Sparks*, 123 Nev. 639, 653, 174 P.3d 734, 744 (2007). Whether analyzed under the law of the case doctrine or *stare decisis*, no grounds for departing from the 2005 and 2009 Orders of Affirmance apply here.¹⁶

///

///

¹⁶ If this Court is inclined to revisit any part of the prior holdings in this case, it should re-examine the premise that any of the three elections were inconclusive. To the contrary each election conclusively established that Local 14 had failed to obtain the vote of a majority of the bargaining unit to displace ESEA. Even the very first election was conclusive on this point because although that ballot had three choices (ESEA, Local 14, No Union), a majority of the bargaining unit did not even vote, as was the case in all three elections. Thus, even if all the votes cast in that first election were allotted to Local 14, it would still have failed to obtain an outright majority. I JA 50, 82, 164, 181, 183-84.

D. Because the Supreme Court 2005 and 2009 Orders are the Law of the Case, the Board Must Follow them Regardless of Result, and There is Nothing for the Board to Interpret, Fill-In or "Re-Interpret."

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